STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County

Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ORIN JERRELL KEMP,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000161

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

VICTOR R. SEEGER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

SFP 06 2019

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the plea court abused its discretion when it refused to order an amount of time served credit, since the court and not the Department of Corrections had the obligation to “award” that credit?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2016 the Pickens County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for Petit Larceny, \$2,000 or less, and Breaking and Entering a Motor Vehicle.¹ R. 20; R. 29.

On January 24, 2018, Appellant pled guilty to petit larceny, breaking and entering into a motor vehicle, possession of burglary tools, and financial transaction card theft before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. R. 1; R. 3, ll. 17 – 22. Christopher Brumback represented Appellant. R. 1. Britni McCall represented the state. Id.

Judge Miller accepted Appellant's guilty plea. R. 8, ll. 2 – 14. As part of a negotiated agreement between Appellant and the state, Appellant was supposed to "receive credit for all time served between August 3, 2015 and September 30, 2016, as well as the time Appellant spent in pretrial detention in Pickens County leading up to his January 24, 2018 guilty plea, a total of Seven Hundred Six (706) days... [and] Appellant would agree to an additional Ninety (90) days in the Stockade in Pickens County." R.42.

The state appeared to argue against the terms of the agreed upon plea negotiations when the solicitor stated that she did not believe Appellant was entitled to the full time served credit contemplated by the agreement between Appellant and the state. R. 15, ll. 2 – 14.

Judge Miller stated he was, "not going along with the recommendation."² R. 13, ll. 17 – 18. Plea counsel explained why and how the state and Appellant came to their agreement and requested the judge, "go along with the deal – the offer that has been negotiated with the state." R. 13, l. 25 – 22, l. 15; R. 14, ll. 20 – 23.

¹ Appellant waived presentment of the two additional charges of Financial Transaction Card Theft and Possession of Burglary Tools. R. 10.

² There was nothing put on the record at the guilty plea that shows the agreement between Appellant and the state was a "recommendation." However, during the plea hearing, plea counsel repeatedly referred to the state and Appellant's "negotiations" and that the plea was a negotiated offer from the state. R.14, ll. 20 – 23.

The plea court declined plea counsel's request and sentenced Appellant to, "Ten years provided upon the service of five years, the balance is suspended with three years' probation." R. 19, ll. 6 – 14.

During sentencing, regarding time served credit, the plea court stated, "I don't know what he's entitled to, but I'll let the Department of Corrections figure it out." R. 19, ll. 6 – 13.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009)(quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (quoting Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Slocumb, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010). “The failure to exercise discretion, however, is itself an abuse of discretion.” State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 86, 538 S.E.2d 257, 267 (Ct. App. 2000) (citing Samples v. Mitchell, 329 S.C. 105, 495 S.E.2d 213 (Ct. App. 1997)).

ARGUMENT

The plea court abused its discretion when it refused to order an amount of time served credit, since the court and not the Department of Corrections had the obligation to “award” that credit.

Relevant Facts

The facts alleged by the state are as follows. On July 30, 2015, Appellant stole Melissa Bland’s purse and all of its contents. R. 6, ll. 8 – 13. Also, on July 30, 2015, Appellant broke into a “Dodge Nitro” belonging to Melissa Bland. R. 6, l. 23 – 11, l. 2.

On January 21, 2017, Appellant unlawfully took a Discover credit card belonging to Audre Acroday. R. 7, ll. 11 – 15.

On April 17, 2017, Appellant possessed a “flathead screwdriver” or other implements used in burglaries under circumstances of an attempt to so use them. R. 7, ll. 5 – 10.

Appellant pled guilty under the impression he and the state negotiated his sentence. R. 13, l. 25 – R. 14, l. 15. Plea counsel explained the agreement to the plea court in detail.

“There were a lot of - - various legal issues which I think resulted in the state and my office negotiating what we both believe to be an appropriate deal. Particularly, based on the extensive time served that [Appellant] has served already. The no credit is shown because that was negotiated as part of the offer where he would not get credit for 700 plus something days that he has served. And that is why we had negotiated a deal where by he would go to the stockade, with no credit for time served, and serve 90 days there.”

Id. The court asked plea counsel for an exact number of days of time served Appellant was owed and plea counsel responded, “706 days.” R. 14, l. 24 – R. 15, l. 1.

After the plea court declared for a second time it was “not going along with the recommendation,” the plea court entirely abdicated its responsibility, as seen below, to

dictate to the department of corrections the amount of time served credit that should be given. R. 19, ll. 6 – 9.

Discussion

“The central question about [a] plea agreement is what are its terms, which is a legal question.” State v. Thrift, 312 S.C. 282, 292, 440 S.E.2d 341, 347 (1994). “A constant factor is that when a plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled.” Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 262 (1971). (see also: United States v. Ringling, 988 F.2d 504, 506 (4th Cir. 1993) holding that plea bargains rest on contractual principles, and each party should receive the benefit of its bargain.)³

Appellant’s case was an intricate one. R. 17, ll. 17 – 18. A total of nineteen charges were being resolved at his guilty plea. R. 15, ll. 2 – 4. Plea counsel put the plea court on notice that Appellant’s time served credit calculation was complicated. R. 14, ll. 1 – 8. The state opined that the issue of time served credit, “gets confusing.” R. 15, ll. 2 – 4. Appellant had time served credit of varying amounts built up from incarceration in three different facilities. R. 15, ll. 4 – 9.

In Appellant’s case there were “significant negotiations” between Appellant and the state before they came to an agreement. R. 14, ll. 3 – 6; R. 17, ll. 18 – 21. Plea counsel explained to the Court that Appellant was entitled to 706 days of time served credit. R. 14, l. 24 – R. 15, l. 1. However, plea counsel further explained that, “the no credit is shown because that was negotiated as part of the offer where [Appellant] would not get credit for 700 plus something

³ Other jurisdictions have ruled that a court must decide whether the government’s conduct is consistent with the parties’ reasonable understanding of the agreement. See: United States v. Roman, 121 F.3d 136 (3rd Cir. 1997); United States v. Chavful, 781 F.3d 758 (5th Cir. 2015); United States v. Taylor, 77 F.3d 368 (11th Cir. 1996).

days that he served and that's why we had negotiated a deal whereby [Appellant] would go to the stockade, with no credit for time served, and serve 90 days there." R. 14, ll. 8 – 14.

Therefore, it was Appellant's understanding of the agreement with the state that he would forego his 706 days of time served credit in exchange for the 90-day sentence in the "stockade" in Pickens County. Thus, when the plea court declined to sentence Appellant to the "stockade," it was incumbent upon the plea court to exercise its discretion and determine the amount of time served credit to which Appellant was entitled.

The plea court failed to exercise its discretion over Appellant's time served credit after refusing to accept the state's recommended sentence that waived Appellant's 706 days of time served credit in exchange for a 90-day sentence in the "stockade" in Pickens County. R. 14, ll. 8 – 14; R. 19, ll. 7 – 9. The plea court stated, "I don't know what he's entitled to but *I'll let the Department of Corrections figure it out.*" *Id.* (emphasis added) "The failure to exercise discretion... is itself an abuse of discretion." *State v. Mansfield*, 343 S.C. 66, 86, 538 S.E.2d 257, 267 (Ct. App. 2000) (citing *Samples v. Mitchell*, 329 S.C. 105, 495 S.E.2d 213 (Ct. App. 1997)).

In *State v. Smith*, 276 S.C. 494, 280 S.E.2d 200 (1981), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a trial judge who does not exercise discretion regarding a motion to modify or vacate a sentence, abused their discretion. Smith was convicted in his absence for a third offense of driving under the influence. *Smith*, at 496, 280 S.E.2d at 201. On a motion to modify or vacate Smith's sentence, the trial judge in *Smith* ruled that he had no jurisdiction to change the sentence. *Id.* at 497, 280 S.E.2d at 201. The Supreme Court held that the authority to change a sentence rests in the hands of the sentencing judge, within the exercise of discretion, and that the

trial judge in Smith abused that discretion when he failed to exercise it. Id. at 498, 280 S.E.2d at 202.

In State v. Hughes, 346 S.C. 339, 552 S.E.2d 35 (Ct. App. 2001), Hughes was indicted for two counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. During the trial, an expert in child sex abuse treatment testified that the victim's behavior was consistent with sexual abuse. Hughes, at 341, 552 S.E.2d at 36. However, on cross examination Hughes asked the expert if she reviewed her notes to refresh her memory prior to testifying. Id. After the expert responded in the affirmative, Hughes asked to inspect her notes. Id. The trial court refused to allow inspection of the expert's notes because they were in Columbia and the trial was taking place in a different county, Orangeburg. Id. The jury convicted Hughes as indicted. Id.

This Court held that the trial court in Hughes erred when it refused to allow Hughes to access the expert's notes under Rule 612, SCRE. Hughes, at 343 – 344, 552 S.E.2d at 37. The trial court believed it could not order the production of the expert's notes because they were not located inside the courtroom. Id. at 343, 552 S.E.2d at 37. This Court held that the trial court erred because, “[U]nder the plain language of [Rule 612, SCRE] the trial court has the discretion to allow or refuse examination by an adverse party of writings used by a witness prior to trial to refresh her memory.” Id.; Rule 612, SCRE. The Hughes Court held that the trial judge abused his discretion when “his ruling revealed that no discretion was, in fact, exercised.” Id. at 342, 552 S.E.2d at 342 (quoting Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 354 S.E.2d 565 (1987)).

Here, the plea court abused its discretion because it failed to exercise discretion. R. 19, ll. 7 – 9. Plea counsel accurately and thoroughly described the negotiations that the state and Appellant entered into, that induced Appellant to plead guilty, to the plea court. R. 14, ll. 1 – 23.

Plea counsel explained the complicated nature of the negotiations and of the calculation of Appellant's time served credit. Id.

The Department of Corrections does not, "figure it out" in regards to how much time served credit Appellant would receive. R. 19, ll. 7 – 9. SCDC is forced to go by the statements from the trial courts or the county detention centers' records. Since, Appellant's time served credit was accumulated in various different facilities, collaborating to accurately determine Appellant's time served credit is an inherently complicated matter.

Thus, the plea court had the duty to order a specific amount of time served when requested to do so. As in Hughes, the plea court's ruling revealed that no discretion was exercised. The plea court had all the information necessary to make a determination in front of it. Plea counsel provided the exact amount of time served credit that Appellant was entitled to and the reasons behind that calculation. R. 14, l. 1 – 23; R. 15, l. 16 – R. 16, l. 2. The state disputed certain points of time served credit that Appellant should receive, and also mentioned that the time served issue "gets confusing." R. 15, ll. 2 – 15. This elaborate discussion of the time served issue at the plea hearing presented the plea court with a detailed and reasoned analysis from both sides. This put the plea court in the best position to determine the calculation of time credit for Appellant. Therefore, trial court failed in its duty to exercise its discretion, and Appellant should be entitled to relief.

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing arguments, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court award him credit for the full amount of time served he has accumulated, 706 days; or in the alternative, remand Appellant's case for a hearing to determine how much time served credit Appellant deserves.

Victor R. Seeger

Victor R Seeger
Appellate Defender