STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Pickens County  
Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2018-000161

---

**RECEIVED**  
JUL 30 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ORIN JERRELL KEMP,

Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325  
Greenville County Courthouse  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Appellant's argument the plea judge abused his discretion by "refusing" to order a specific amount of credit for time served as part of the sentence imposed is not properly preserved for appellate review because Appellant neither raised any objections to his sentence during the guilty plea hearing nor asked the plea judge, who ordered Appellant receive all the credit for time served to which he was statutorily entitled, to make a specific determination regarding the issue of credit for time served and, therefore, cannot appropriately raise any objections to his sentence, including in regard to the manner in which credit for time served was awarded, for the first time on appeal.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Over the course of several years, Appellant Orin Jerrell Kemp was arrested on multiple occasions in connection to a series of vehicle break-ins and thefts. In March of 2017, the Pickens County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for one count of breaking and entering a motor vehicle and one count of petit larceny, which was subject to enhancement as a third or subsequent property crime pursuant to Section 16-1-57 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. On January 24, 2018, Appellant appeared—along with several other defendants involved in unrelated cases—in the Pickens County Court of General Sessions for a guilty plea hearing before the Honorable Edward W. Miller, circuit court judge. During the course of the hearing, Appellant waived presentment on additional charges of possession of burglary tools and financial transaction card theft and then entered guilty pleas to all four charges. At the conclusion of the plea hearing, Judge Miller accepted Appellant’s guilty pleas and sentenced him to an aggregate ten-year term of imprisonment, which was suspended upon the completion of a five-year term of imprisonment along with three years of probation. Appellant then timely filed a notice of appeal.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Along with the notice of appeal, defense counsel filed a lengthy explanation pursuant to Rule 203(d)(1)(B) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules. (Rule 203 Explanation from Defense Counsel). In that lengthy explanation, defense counsel raised a number of factual allegations and arguments that were never presented to the plea judge. (Rule 203 Explanation from Defense Counsel). Furthermore, defense counsel identified “[p]roceeding forward with a guilty plea in contravention of the underlying agreement of the State and undersigned counsel as to the credit for time served” as the issue appropriate for appellate review. (Rule 203 Explanation from Defense Counsel).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Throughout a multi-year span of time, Appellant was arrested on several different occasions in and around the campus of Clemson University in connection to a series of vehicle break-ins and thefts. (Tr. pp. 19-20; Arrest Warrant # 2016A3920300063; Arrest Warrant # 2016A3920300064; Arrest Warrant # 2017A3920300019; Arrest Warrant # 2017A3920300040). As a result of his actions, the Pickens County Grand Jury indicted him for petit larceny and breaking into a motor vehicle. (Tr. p. 3; Indictment # 2016-GS-39-02937; Indictment # 2016-GS-39-02939).

Following the issuance of those indictments, Appellant appeared in the Pickens County Court of General Sessions for a guilty plea hearing. (Tr. p. 3). During the course of the hearing, Appellant acknowledged he was facing the petit larceny and breaking into a motor vehicle charges, and he waived presentment on additional charges of possession of burglary tools and financial transaction card theft. (Tr. pp. 10-11; Indictment # 2018-GS-39-0248; Indictment # 2018-GS-39-0249). Furthermore, he affirmed to the plea judge he understood the penalties he was facing on each of those charges, which amounted to a maximum term of imprisonment of twenty-five years. (Tr. pp. 10-11). After doing so, Appellant unreservedly pled guilty to all four charges unreservedly, indicated his decision to do so was made freely and voluntarily, and admitted he was guilty of all the offenses. (Tr. pp. 11-13).

Once Appellant entered his guilty pleas, the solicitor recounted the facts of Appellant's crimes along with the details of Appellant's extensive prior criminal record.<sup>2</sup> (Tr. pp. 19-20). Additionally, one of Appellant's victims addressed the court and explained Appellant's criminal

---

<sup>2</sup> By the time he entered his guilty pleas, Appellant had been convicted of over twenty-five prior crimes, including multiple counts of breaking into a motor vehicle and petit larceny, over the course of a criminal career spanning more than two decades. (Tr. pp. 20-21).

actions had negatively impacted her life. (Tr. pp. 20-21). Following those remarks, the plea judge accepted Appellant's guilty pleas but indicated he was not going to go along with a recommendation from the parties.<sup>3</sup> (Tr. p. 21).

At that point, defense counsel asserted he negotiated a "deal" with the solicitor for Appellant to receive a sentence of ninety days in the "stockade" while further receiving *no* credit for 706 days of time he had already served, and he urged the plea judge to "go along" with that "deal" or "offer."<sup>4</sup> (Tr. pp. 22-23). In response, the solicitor noted Appellant had served 281 days in Pickens County, 240 days in the South Carolina Department of Corrections on unrelated charges, and 185 days in Anderson County on unrelated charges, and she contended Appellant was not entitled to credit for the time he served on the Anderson County charges.<sup>5 6</sup> (Tr. pp. 23).

---

<sup>3</sup> Consistent with the plea judge's statement about a sentencing recommendation being made, the information contained in the sentencing sheets from Appellant's case reflects Appellant pled guilty with a recommendation from the State as opposed to entering guilty pleas with a negotiated sentence. (Sentencing Sheets). Notably, the sentencing sheets were personally signed by the solicitor, defense counsel, the plea judge, *and* Appellant. (Sentencing Sheets).

<sup>4</sup> As to what was meant by defense counsel's use of the word "stockade," the Pickens County Prison apparently was colloquially known as the "stockade." See, e.g., Nikie Mayo & Mike Ellis, *Sheriff: Pickens County inmates escape, 1 shot dead by homeowner, 1 captured*, ANDERSON INDEPENDENT MAIL, Dec. 4, 2018, <https://www.independentmail.com/story/news/2018/12/04/sheriff-pickens-county-inmates-escape-one-shot-dead-homeowner/2200186002/> (explaining the Pickens County Prison was "commonly called the stockade").

<sup>5</sup> Pursuant to South Carolina law, credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing shall *not* be given "when the prisoner is serving a sentence for one offense and is awaiting trial and sentence for a second offense in which case he shall not receive credit for time served prior to trial in a reduction of his sentence for the second offense." S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40. Based on that, Appellant was statutorily prohibited from receiving credit for the time he served in the Department of Corrections on unrelated charges. Id.

<sup>6</sup> At the time he entered his guilty plea in Pickens County, Appellant was in the process of resolving nineteen charges in total. (Tr. p. 23).

Defense counsel then asserted he believed the “resolution” he discussed with the solicitor was an appropriate means of giving Appellant credit for the time he had served. (Tr. pp. 23-24).

After considering those contentions, the plea judge again affirmed he was not going along with the recommendation of the parties. (Tr. p. 27). The plea judge then sentenced Appellant to an aggregate ten-year term of imprisonment, and he suspended that sentence to a five-year term of imprisonment coupled with a three-year term of probation. (Tr. p. 27). Furthermore, the plea judge expressly ordered Appellant receive all the credit for time served to which he was statutorily entitled while—consistent with the language from South Carolina’s accepted sentencing sheet form—leaving the calculation of that non-discretionary credit to the staff at the South Carolina Department of Corrections.<sup>7 8</sup> (Tr. p. 27; Sentencing Sheets). Thereafter, defense counsel did *not* raise any objections to the sentence imposed on any grounds or seek any further actions from the plea judge in regard to Appellant’s credit for time served. (Tr. p. 27).

---

<sup>7</sup> On the accepted South Carolina sentencing sheet form, the relevant portion regarding credit for time served reads as follows: “The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied by the State Department of Corrections.” (Sentencing Sheets).

<sup>8</sup> Generally, the issue of credit for time served is *not* discretionary. See Hayes v. State, 413 S.C. 553, 559, 777 S.E.2d 6, 10 (Ct. App. 2015) (“The requirement that a prisoner receive credit for time served is mandatory.”); see also State v. McCord, 349 S.C. 477, 487, 562 S.E.2d 689, 694 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[T]his matter is not discretionary with the trial court.”). However, in the limited circumstance of credit for time served on monitored house arrest, the matter falls within the sentencing judge’s discretion. See S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (“In every case in computing the time served by a prisoner, full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing, and may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest.”).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The issue of whether a criminal defendant is serving an illegal or unconstitutional sentence constitutes a question of law. Bordeaux v. State, 410 S.C. 495, 499, 765 S.E.2d 143, 145 (2014). Therefore, an appellate court considering the lawfulness of a sentence reviews the matter de novo solely for errors of law. Id.; see Catawba Indian Tribe of South Carolina v. State, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007) (“[Appellate courts] are free to decide a question of law with no particular deference to the circuit court.”).

## ARGUMENT

**Appellant's argument the plea judge abused his discretion by "refusing" to order a specific amount of credit for time served as part of the sentence imposed is not properly preserved for appellate review because Appellant neither raised any objections to his sentence during the guilty plea hearing nor asked the plea judge, who ordered Appellant receive all the credit for time served to which he was statutorily entitled, to make specific determination regarding the issue of credit for time served and, therefore, cannot appropriately raise any objections to his sentence, including in regard to the manner in which credit for time served was awarded, for the first time on appeal.**

Appellant contends the plea judge abused his discretion when he purportedly "refused" to order a specific amount of credit for time served while maintaining 706 days of credit should have been awarded.<sup>9</sup> In making that particular contention, Appellant readily acknowledges the plea judge did, in fact, award him with credit for time served as part when imposing the sentence, but Appellant nonetheless faults the plea judge for leaving the calculation of the precise amount of non-discretionary credit earned to the Department of Corrections, who was responsible for administering the sentence after it was imposed. Significantly though, defense counsel did not raise any objections to Appellant's sentence after it was imposed, did not ask the plea judge to specifically determine and designate the amount of days of credit for time served to which Appellant was entitled, and did not argue to the plea judge he was required to take such action. As a result, the plea judge was never asked to take the action Appellant now contends he abused his discretion by allegedly refusing to take. Under such circumstances, Appellant failed to preserve any issue with the manner in which credit for time served was ordered in his case, and his appellate argument cannot properly be considered or addressed for the first time on appeal. Appellant's convictions and aggregate sentence should be affirmed.

---

<sup>9</sup> As the incident giving rise to the financial transaction card theft charge occurred just 368 days before the guilty plea hearing and the incident giving rise to the possession of burglary tools charge occurred just 282 days before the guilty plea hearing, Appellant presumably is not contending on appeal he should have been awarded 706 days of credit on those particular charges. (Tr. p. 1; Arrest Warrant # 2017A3920300019; Arrest Warrant # 2017A3920300040).

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). The key purpose of those requirements is “to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). Significantly, the application of issue preservation requirements ensures the trial court has an opportunity “to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

For an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see also JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). If an issue is not presented to and ruled upon by the circuit court judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). Critically, on appeal, an appellant is limited solely to the grounds raised at trial. State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997); see State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”).

Moreover, in the context of sentencing issues, a criminal defendant is required to contemporaneously object to an alleged sentencing error during trial in order to preserve an issue

with a sentence for appellate review. State v. Salisbury, 330 S.C. 250, 276, 498 S.E.2d 655, 669 (Ct. App. 1998); see State v. Johnston, 333 S.C. 459, 462, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999) (“[A] challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review.”). Importantly, an appellant’s failure to timely object to or seek modification of a sentence in the trial court precludes him from pursuing the issue on appeal. State v. Winestock, 271 S.C. 473, 475, 248 S.E.2d 307, 308 (1978); see State v. Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991) (“No objection to sentencing was raised at trial and this issue is not properly before the court.”); State v. Shumate, 276 S.C. 46, 47, 275 S.E.2d 288, 288 (1981) (“A defendant’s failure to timely object to or seek modification of his sentence in the trial court precludes him from presenting his objection for the first time on appeal. Appellant’s contention was not advanced at the probation revocation hearing where the results were most favorable to him. By failing to object to or seek modification of the revocation sentence in the trial court he is now foreclosed from doing so on appeal.” (citations omitted)).

In the case sub judice, Appellant contends on appeal—for the first time—the plea judge abused his discretion when he “refused” to specifically designate the amount of credit for time served Appellant was to receive after he entered his guilty pleas. Importantly though, during the guilty plea hearing, defense counsel did not ask the plea judge to specifically determine the number of days of credit for time served Appellant should receive and did not argue to the plea judge he was required to do so when sentencing Appellant. Likewise, since defense counsel did not ask the plea judge to make a specific determination regarding Appellant’s entitlement to credit for time served, defense counsel obviously did not accuse the plea judge of refusing to make such a determination. Instead, defense counsel simply contended Appellant had served 706 days of incarceration prior to pleading guilty while urging the plea judge to accept a “deal”

under which Appellant would receive *no* credit for time served whatsoever. Then, after the plea judge declined to accept the parties' sentencing recommendation, imposed the sentence he believed was appropriate under the circumstances, and ordered Appellant to be given credit for all the time served to which he was entitled without expressly specifying the exact amount he should receive, defense counsel did not raise any objections or make any further requests of the plea judge, including in regard to the manner in which the credit for time served was awarded. See Roche v. South Carolina Alcoholic Beverage Control Comm'n, 263 S.C. 451, 455, 211 S.E.2d 243, 244 (1975) ("[T]he purpose of appeal under our procedure is 'to determine if the lower court did something that it should not have done, or omitted doing something it should have done.' Accordingly, a trial judge will not be reversed for failing to act on a matter that was not submitted to him." (citation omitted)); cf. State v. Vang, 353 S.C. 78, 85, 577 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2003) (finding any issue resulting from the trial judge's failure to take a particular action was not preserved for appellate review because Vang did not ask the trial judge during trial to take the action Vang contended on appeal should have been taken).

Since defense counsel neither raised any objections to Appellant's sentence nor challenged the plea judge's decision to award credit for time served without making an express determination as to the specific amount of credit to which Appellant was entitled, no arguments or objections were preserved for appellate review in regard to the issue of Appellant's credit for time served. See Johnston, 333 S.C. at 462, 510 S.E.2d at 425 ("[A] challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review."). Therefore, Appellant is precluded from raising any objections or challenges to his sentence, including in regard to his credit for time served, for the first time on appeal. See State v. McCray, 222 S.C. 391, 394, 73 S.E.2d 1, 2 (1952) (finding McCray's appellate contention the sentence imposed

was “cruel and excessive” was unavailable to him on appeal because that particular contention was not raised to the circuit court judge); see also I’On, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724 (“The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred.”); see generally In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review.”). As a result, Appellant’s appellate challenge to the plea judge’s manner of awarding credit for time served is not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot appropriately be raised or addressed for the first time on appeal.<sup>10</sup> See State v. Walker, 252 S.C. 325, 327-328, 166 S.E.2d 209, 210 (1969) (declining to address Walker’s appellate contention the sentence he received could not have properly been imposed “on the elementary ground that the question was not raised below”); cf. State v. Gulledge, 321 S.C. 399, 404-405, 468 S.E.2d 665, 669 (Ct. App. 1996) (“Gulledge . . . argues the State did not prove she had the resources to pay \$210,000.00 in restitution and the trial court failed to state its findings and the underlying facts and circumstances of them. Because this argument was neither raised to nor addressed by the trial court, we need not deal with it.” (citation omitted)). Appellant’s convictions and aggregate sentence should be affirmed.

---

<sup>10</sup> Moreover, since the plea judge expressly awarded Appellant with the credit for time served to which he was statutorily entitled and there is nothing appearing in the record establishing Appellant has not received any of the credit he believes he should have received, Appellant very well may have received both everything he is seeking and everything he is entitled to under the law, and, thus, he has failed to meet his burden of establishing an error actually occurred in his case. See Thomasko v. Poole, 349 S.C. 7, 17, 561 S.E.2d 597, 602 (2002) (“It is well established that an appellant seeking reversal of a decision by the trial court must show both error and prejudice.”); see also State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 610, 274 S.E.2d 411, 412 (1981) (“Inasmuch as the appellant obtained the only relief he sought, this court has no issue to decide.”); State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976) (“[T]his Court has no jurisdiction to review a sentence, provided it is within the limits provided by statute for the discretion of the trial court, and is not the result of prejudice, oppression or corrupt motive.”).

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.